#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1800

RAMIRO COMPANIONI, JR.,	
Petitioner,	
vs.	
CITY OF TAMPA,	
Respondent.	

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

DOMINIC O. FARIELLO, ESQ. DOMINIC O. FARIELLO, P.A. 609 W. De Leon Street Tampa, Florida 33606 BRENNAN HOLDEN & KAVOUKLIS, P.A.
115 South Newport Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33606
-andPODHURST ORSECK, P.A.
25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

BY: JOEL D. EATON Fla. Bar No. 203513

##

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioner, Ramiro Companioni, Jr., sued the City of Tampa for injuries he sustained when his motorcycle struck the rear of a City truck. During the course of the trial, Mr. Companioni's trial counsel engaged in misconduct, to which the City's counsel objected. The objections were sustained. The City's counsel was satisfied with these rulings and chose not to move for a mistrial. Mr. Companioni received a favorable verdict. The City then filed a motion for new trial, contending that the cumulative effect of Mr. Companioni's counsel's misconduct deprived it of a fair trial.

The trial court agreed that the City had been deprived of a fair trial by counsel's misconduct. Nevertheless, following a long line of authority from both this Court and the Second District, it concluded that the City's election not to move for a mistrial after its objections had been sustained failed to preserve the issues for further review. It then evaluated the unpreserved issues under the four-part test of this Court's recent decision in *Murphy v. International Robotic Systems, Inc.*, 766 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 2000), and concluded that counsel's misconduct was not so extreme that "it would undermine the public's confidence in the judicial system." The motion for new trial was therefore denied.

The City appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Second District, which held that the trial court had applied the "wrong standard" in evaluating the City's motion -- and it reversed Mr. Companioni's judgment and ordered a new trial. The district court

.

 $<sup>^{1/2}</sup>$  The statement of the case and facts is taken from the face of the decision sought to be reviewed (App. 1-3).

acknowledged that, after an objection has been sustained, it is necessary to move for a mistrial in order to preserve the issue for further review, but it drew a distinction between further review in an appellate court and further review by a trial court. And it announced that the City's objections had been preserved for consideration in a motion for new trial: "Although a party whose objection is sustained must move for a mistrial in order to preserve the issue for appellate review, a motion for mistrial is not a prerequisite to moving for a new trial" (App. 2). In effect, the district court held that a trial court has greater authority to order a new trial for an unpreserved error than an appellate court would have.

As we will demonstrate in the argument that follows, this holding is in express and direct conflict with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal holding that a trial court has no greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an unpreserved error.

#### II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court's decision is in express and direct conflict with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal holding that a trial court has no greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an unpreserved error. And because the decision permits counsel to remain silent when a motion for mistrial is required to preserve an objection that has been sustained, to await the outcome of the trial, to withhold his request for a retrial if he has prevailed, and to raise his motion for mistrial in the form of a motion for new trial if the jury has returned an adverse verdict,

it drastically undermines the "contemporaneous objection rule" and the several salutary purposes the rule is designed to serve. We respectfully submit that these multiple conflicts are deserving of this Court's resolution, and we urge the Court to grant review to that end.

#### III. ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL HOLDING THAT A TRIAL COURT HAS NO GREATER AUTHORITY THAN AN APPELLATE COURT TO ORDER A NEW TRIAL FOR AN UNPRESERVED ERROR.

The "contemporaneous objection rule" is a staple of Florida's jurisprudence. This Court knows it well. And this Court recently made it clear that a new trial cannot be granted by either a trial court or an appellate court for an error that was not preserved by an appropriate objection during trial unless the error satisfies the stringent four-part test that was applied by the trial court in the instant case. *Murphy v. International Robotic Systems, Inc.*, 766 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 2000).

It is also thoroughly settled that, if an objection is sustained, the objecting party must move for a mistrial and obtain an adverse ruling before the objection is preserved for further review -- that the failure to move for a mistrial after an objection has been sustained constitutes a waiver of the objection:

... [W]hat happens if there is a contemporaneous objection and the trial court finds that there has been an improper comment and sustains the defendant's objection. In that event, the rule is also clear. The defendant must move for mistrial if he wishes to preserve his objection, and he will not be allowed to await the outcome of the trial with the expectation that, if he is found guilty, his conviction will be automatically reversed.

Simpson v. State, 418 So.2d 984, 986 (Fla. 1982). Accord Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331, 335 (Fla. 1978); Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284, 288 n. 3 (Fla. 1991).

There has never been any question that this rule applies in the appellate courts of this state. The issue raised by the decision sought to be reviewed is whether a *trial court* is bound by this rule as well. Can a trial court grant a motion for new trial for an objection that has been waived by a failure to move for a mistrial after an objection has been sustained? In the decision sought to be reviewed, the Second District has held that a trial court has that authority, notwithstanding that an appellate court does not. The Fifth District has squarely held to the contrary -- that a trial court has no greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial in that circumstance.

In *State v. Fritz*, 652 So.2d 1243 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), defense counsel's objections to closing argument were sustained; no motions for mistrial were made; the trial court found the closing arguments improper; and it granted the defendant's motion for new trial. The district court reversed, with the following explanation:

The law is clear that, in order to preserve a claim based on improper prosecutorial conduct, defense counsel must object, and if the objection is sustained he must then request a curative instruction or mistrial; he cannot await the outcome of the trial to seek the relief of a new trial.

652 So.2d at 1244. State v. Fritz was followed on this point in State v. Benton, 662

So.2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). Most respectfully, the conflict with these two decisions is undeniable.

The Second District's decision in the instant case was bottomed upon and can be traced back to the Fourth District's decision in *Nigro v. Brady*, 731 So.2d 54, 56 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), in which that court "concluded that the preservation rule which applies to raising issues on appeal does not apply to motions for new trial." Although the conflict with *State v. Fritz* was acknowledged on the face of the Fourth District's decision, review was not sought. There are therefore two Districts in this state in which a trial court possesses greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an unpreserved error -- the Second and the Fourth. 3/

There are also two Districts in this state in which trial courts do *not* possess greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an unpreserved error -- the Third and the Fifth. The leading decision, from the capable pen of the late Judge Daniel S. Pearson, put the point this way:

We know of no reason why a trial court should be given any greater power than an appellate court to grant a new trial based on a claimed but unpreserved error. The discretion which is said to be vested in a trial judge to grant a new trial and to which we give deference stems from his unique

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note that this conclusion was reached prior to this Court's decision in *Murphy v. International Robotics, supra*. The Second District also followed *Nigro* on the point in *Robinson v. State*, 989 So.2d 747 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008).

Even in the Fourth District, the status of *Nigro v. Brady*, which declined to follow *State v. Fritz*, is problematical. More recently, *State v. Fritz* was cited with approval in *State v. Cameron*, 837 So.2d 1111, 1112 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

ability to determine, upon further reflection, whether, for example, he was correct in overruling or sustaining some objection, denying a mistrial, or giving or refusing to give a requested instruction, and whether, if incorrect, his ruling may have affected the fairness of the trial. This discretion, however, is to be exercised only with respect to preserved errors.

Sears Roebuck & Co. v. Jackson, 433 So.2d 1319, 1322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). Accord Kmart Corp. v. Hayes, 707 So.2d 957, 957-58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998); Saxon v. Chacon, 539 So.2d 11, 12 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

The Fifth District has followed suit:

Timely objection is as much a predicate for the grant of a new trial by the lower court as it is a predicate for reversal on appeal . . . . Hence, as was recently pointed out in the case of *Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Jackson*, 433 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983):

We know of no reason why a trial court should be given any greater power than an appellate court to grant a new trial based on a claimed but unpreserved error. The discretion which is said to vested in a trial judge to grant a new trial and to which we give deference stems from his unique ability to determine, upon further reflection, whether, for example, he was correct in overruling or sustaining some objection, denying a mistrial, or giving or refusing to give a requested instruction, and whether, if incorrect, his ruling may have affected the fairness of the trial. This discretion, however, is to be exercised only with respect to preserved errors.

County of Volusia v. Niles, 445 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). Most respectfully,

the conflict between the Second and the Fourth Districts, on the one hand, and the Third and the Fifth Districts, on the other, is undeniable.

Curiously, there is at least one Second District decision on the books that is also in direct conflict with the decision sought to be reviewed. In *Eichelkraut v. Kash N' Karry Food Stores, Inc.*, 644 So.2d 90 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), defendant's counsel objected to a portion of plaintiffs' counsel's closing argument and requested a curative instruction. The objection was sustained and a curative instruction was given. Defendant's counsel did not thereafter move for a mistrial. The plaintiffs received a favorable verdict; the defendant moved for a new trial for the improper argument; and the trial court ordered a new trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Second District has also cited *County of Volusia v. Niles, supra*, with approval for the proposition that "[t]imely objection is as much a predicate for the grant of a new trial by the lower court as it is . . . for reversal on appeal." *Hargrove v. CSX Transportation, Inc.*, 631 So.2d 345, 346 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994).

The Second District reversed and ordered reinstatement of the plaintiffs' judgment, holding that defendant's counsel's failure to move for a mistrial waived the objection, and that the trial court had no authority to order a new trial for the unpreserved error. *See also Newton v. South Florida Baptist Hospital*, 614 So.2d 1195, 1196 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) (failure to move for a mistrial after objection is sustained constitutes a waiver of the objection); *Hagan v. Sun Bank of Mid-Florida*, *N.A.*, 666 So.2d 580, 585 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) (same). The *Eichelkraut* decision was not acknowledged in the decision sought to be reviewed. While an *intra*-district conflict of this sort cannot support an exercise of this Court's jurisdiction, it certainly demonstrates that there is an enormous amount of confusion in this area fully justifying review of the *inter*-district conflicts on the point that also exist.

Although these conflicts should be sufficient to motivate the Court to resolve the widespread confusion in this area, there is an additional conflict deserving of this Court's review. At issue in *Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc. v. Green*, 468 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1985), was whether trial courts have the authority to reserve ruling on a motion for mistrial until after the jury returns a verdict. This Court held that trial courts do have that authority. The Court was careful to note, however, that it was not relaxing the "contemporaneous objection rule":

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Hagan, Eichelkraut and Sears Roebuck were recently disapproved by this Court, but only to the extent that they "stand for the proposition that a trial court's grant of a new trial based on unobjected-to closing argument [after applying Murphy's four-part test] should be subject to a de novo standard of review on appeal." Murphy v. International Robotic Systems, Inc., 766 So.2d 1010, 1031 n. 24 (Fla. 2000). This limited disapproval does not affect the cases for the points they have been cited above.

We refuse to change the general procedure that must be followed in order for a party to preserve a motion for a mistrial for appellate review. Unless the improper argument constitutes a fundamental error, a motion for a mistrial must be made "at the time the improper comment was made." *Clark v. State*, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

468 So.2d at 910.

In stark contrast, in the decision sought to be reviewed, the Second District has held that counsel aggrieved by the misconduct of opposing counsel is *not* required to move for a mistrial at the time the misconduct occurs. Rather, he can await the outcome of the trial, withhold his request for a retrial if he has prevailed, and raise his motion for mistrial in the form of a motion for new trial if the jury has returned an adverse verdict. This is contrary to this Court's requirement in *Ed Ricke & Sons* that motions for mistrial are required at the time the impropriety occurs and cannot be withheld until the result is in -- and it drastically undermines the "contemporaneous objection rule" and the several salutary purposes the rule is designed to serve. We respectfully submit that these multiple conflicts are deserving of this Court's resolution, and we urge the Court to grant review to that end.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

This Court plainly has jurisdiction, and review should be granted to resolve the current confusion caused by the conflicting decisions of this Court and the several district courts of appeal.