## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# CASE NO. SC09-1800

## RAMIRO COMPANIONI, JR.

Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF TAMPA,

Respondent.

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

# **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION**

Richard M. Zabak Fla. Bar No. 273406 GrayRobinson, P.A. 201 North Franklin Street, Suite 2200 Post Office Box 3324 Tampa, Florida 33601-3324 Telephone: 813-273-5090 Facsimile: 813-273-5145 Email: richard.zabak@gray-robinson.com

#

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As the Second District Court of Appeal observed in its August 28, 2009 opinion,<sup>1</sup> this proceeding arises from the trial court's denial of the motion for new trial and remittitur of respondent, the City of Tampa (the City). The motion for new trial was based in part upon the City's assertion that opposing counsel had engaged in misconduct throughout the trial. The trial court agreed, finding that "the cumulative conduct of Plaintiff's counsel was so pervasive and prejudicial that the City of Tampa's right to a fair trial was impaired." Nonetheless, the trial court denied the City's motion, reasoning that the City had not moved for a mistrial and that the misconduct was not so extreme that "it would undermine the public's confidence in the judicial system."

The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's denial of the City's motion for new trial because throughout the trial the City did object to opposing counsel's conduct. Thus, the Second District Court of Appeal concluded that the trial court did not need to consider whether counsel's conduct was so egregious that failure to grant a new trial would have undermined the public's confidence in the justice system. Instead, the trial court only needed to consider whether opposing counsel's misconduct deprived the City of a fair trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Contrary to note 1 of Companioni's Jurisdictional Brief, his statement of the case and facts goes beyond the face of the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion. The City, however, will confine its statement to those matters reflected by that opinion.

Therefore, because the trial court had found that the City was deprived<sup>2</sup> of a fair trial, the Second District Court of Appeal concluded that the trial court should have granted the City's motion for new trial.

#### **II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Companioni contends that the Second District Court of Appeal's holding expressly and directly conflicts with decisions rendered by this Court and other district courts of appeal. The City respectfully suggests that Companioni is wrong, and that there is no such conflict and no basis for Companioni to properly invoke this Court's jurisdiction.

In his jurisdictional brief, Companioni asserts that the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in this case conflicts with the appellate decisions holding that a trial court has no greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an unpreserved error. He urges this Court to accept jurisdiction to clarify this issue. He disregards the fact that this Court already effectively did so in 2000 in <u>Murphy v. International Robotic Systems, Inc.</u>, 766 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 2000). There, this Court expressly held that a party may seek relief from unobjected-to improper closing arguments by way of motion for new trial, but that a party may not first challenge such improper arguments on appeal. <u>Id</u>. at 1027. Thus, this

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The trial court utilized the word "impaired" rather than "deprived" but the City suggests there is no material difference, and Companioni himself has equated the terms. <u>See</u> Companioni jurisdictional brief at 1, where Companioni states that the trial court agreed that the City had been deprived of a fair trial.

Court has already recognized in a civil case that a trial court has broader authority than an appellate court to order a new trial based on an unpreserved error.

Significantly, all but two of the cases cited by Companioni predate <u>Murphy</u>. Both of those cases, however, are criminal cases which <u>Murphy</u> does not encompass, and one case is a Second District case which, as Companioni acknowledges at page 8 of his brief, could not provide a basis for this Court's jurisdiction even if it did conflict with the decision in this case.

#### **III. ARGUMENT**

# THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

Companioni contends that the Second District Court of Appeal's decision expressly and directly conflicts with other decisions of this Court and of other district court of appeal as to whether a trial court has any greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an unpreserved error. Companioni further contends that this Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the "current confusion" regarding this issue. It is noteworthy that Companioni has not even attempted to argue that the Second District Court of Appeal's specific holding – that a motion for new trial should be granted where a party is deprived of a fair trial as a result of repeated improper comments to which objections were interposed – conflicts with any decision of this Court or another district court of appeal.

There is no direct and express conflict upon which to base this Court's jurisdiction nor can there be any confusion regarding the issue framed by Companioni. In 2000, this Court, in a thorough and detailed opinion, expressly addressed the respective roles of the trial court and the appellate court with regard to improper but unobjected to closing arguments in <u>Murphy v. International</u> <u>Robotic Systems, Inc.</u>, 766 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 2000). This Court plainly and unequivocally stated:

As explained more fully below, we hold that relief may not be granted in a <u>civil case</u> based on improper, but unobjected-to, closing argument unless such argument is first challenged and judicially evaluated in the trial court.

<u>Id</u>. at 1012-1013 (emphasis added). This Court subsequently reiterated its holding that "a <u>civil</u> litigant may not seek relief in an appellate court based on improper, but unobjected-to closing argument, unless the litigant has at least challenged such argument in the trial court by way of a motion for new trial even if no objection was voiced during trial." <u>Id</u>. at 1027 (emphasis added). This Court receded from four of its prior decisions to the extent that they supported the proposition that improper but unobjected to closing arguments in a civil case may be challenged for the first time on appeal, and further disapproved any decisions issued by district courts of appeal to the extent they stand for such a proposition. <u>Id</u>.

As a result of its holding in Murphy, this Court plainly recognized that a trial court does, in fact, have broader authority than an appellate court to grant a new trial based on unpreserved error. Specifically, and in accordance with this Court's holding, a party can raise for the first time in a motion for a new trial a challenge for improper but unobjected-to closing arguments, but must demonstrate fundamental error pursuant to the four-part test described in its opinion to prevail on such a challenge.<sup>3</sup> A party, however, cannot challenge an improper but unobjected-to closing argument for the first time on appeal. In adopting this approach, this Court expressly recognized that the trial judge is in the best position to determine the propriety and potential impact of allegedly improper closing argument. Id. Thus, this Court has already made it clear that, at least with regard to unobjected-to closing arguments, a trial court can and does have greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an unpreserved error.

In arguing to the contrary, Companioni has ignored this Court's express holding in <u>Murphy</u>. Moreover, he has substantially relied on criminal cases notwithstanding the repeated admonishment in the <u>Murphy</u> opinion itself that it only addressed civil cases. 766 So. 2d at 1012, 1016, 1023, 1027, 1028, 1030.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In <u>Murphy</u>, this Court outlined its four-part test for fundamental error applicable in instances of unobjected-to closing arguments as follows: 1) the argument must be improper; 2) the argument must be harmful; 3) the argument must be incurable; and, 4) the argument must have so damaged the fairness of the trial that the public's interest in our system requires a new trial. 766 So. 2d at 1028-1030.

Indeed, in <u>Murphy</u> this Court expressly stated that its decision did "not affect the law in criminal cases regarding improper, but unobjected-to, closing argument." <u>Id</u>. at 1012, n. 2.

In addition to relying on criminal cases, all but two of the district court of appeal cases cited by Companioni predate <u>Murphy</u> and, consequently, to the extent they conflicted with <u>Murphy</u>, were plainly overruled. The only two cases that were decided after <u>Murphy</u> were <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 989 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008), a criminal case which Companioni does not contend conflicts with the decision in this case and which, in any event, as a Second District case, could not support an exercise of this Court's jurisdiction as Companioni acknowledged at page 8 of his brief; and, <u>State v. Cameron</u>, 837 So. 2d 1111 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), a criminal case involving an allegedly erroneous jury instruction which the court concluded was a "moot concern" due to the evidence admitted during trial.

In his brief, Companioni notes that in <u>Nigro v. Brady</u>, 731 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), which was cited in the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in this case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal stated that its decision conflicted with <u>State v. Fritz</u>, 652 So. 1243 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). Companioni focused on the statement in <u>Nigro</u> that the preservation rule applicable to raising issues on appeal did not apply to motions for new trial. Both <u>Nigro</u> and <u>Fritz</u> were decided prior to this Court's decision in <u>Murphy</u>. The City respectfully suggests that had the <u>Nigro</u>

court had the benefit of the <u>Murphy</u> opinion, it would not have perceived a conflict for at least two reasons.

First, in <u>Murphy</u>, this Court expressly limited its decision to civil cases and its statement that its decision did not affect the law in criminal cases regarding improper but unobjected-to closing argument in and of itself would have obviated any potential conflict between <u>Nigro</u>, a civil case, and <u>Fritz</u>, a criminal case. This is more than a technical distinction, particularly because the four-part <u>Murphy</u> test in determining whether an error is fundamental does not apply in criminal cases. Instead, in a criminal case, there is fundamental error if a defendant is deprived of a fair trial.<sup>4</sup> <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Martinez v. State</u>, 981 So. 2d 449, 457 (Fla. 2008) (erroneous jury instruction results in fundamental error where defendant is deprived of a fair trial). Therefore, a comparison of criminal and civil cases in this context would be akin to comparing apples with oranges.

Second, in <u>Murphy</u>, this Court specifically held that a civil litigant may not initially seek relief in an appellate court based on an improper, but unobjected-to closing argument, but that the litigant could challenge such argument by way of a motion for new trial at the trial court level. Thus, it did allow for the review of an unpreserved error by way of new trial, but precluded an initial review of an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In <u>Fritz</u>, the Fifth District Court of Appeal found that there was no fundamental error.

unpreserved error on appeal. Consequently, had <u>Murphy</u> applied to criminal cases, it would have resolved any perceived conflict between <u>Nigro</u> and <u>Fritz</u>.

Finally, Companioni suggests that the Second District Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with this Court's 1985 decision in <u>Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc. v.</u> <u>Green</u>, 468 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1985). <u>Ed Ricke</u>, however, addresses an issue not involved in this case, i.e., whether trial courts have the authority to reserve ruling on a motion for mistrial until after a jury returns a verdict. Moreover, the excerpt from the <u>Ed Ricke</u> opinion quoted in Companioni's brief required a motion for mistrial to preserve that motion "<u>for appellate review</u>." (emphasis added)<sup>5</sup> Here, of course, the issue involved the scope of review on a motion for new trial rather than on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In <u>Ed Ricke</u>, this Court noted that such a motion was not necessary where an improper argument constitutes fundamental error. 468 So. 2d at 910. <u>Ed Ricke</u> predated <u>Murphy's</u> four-part fundamental error formulation in the context of unobjected-to argument. At the time <u>Ed Ricke</u> was decided, the judicial description of fundamental error in civil cases included an error that extinguished a party's right to a fair trial. <u>See, e.g., Sears Roebuck & Co. v. Jackson</u>, 433 So. 2d 1319, 1322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), <u>disapproved in part by Murphy v. International Robotic Systems, Inc.</u>, 766 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 2000). The trial court below concluded that occurred here. Thus, because the law has changed, Companioni's comparison of <u>Ed Ricke</u> with this case could not support his jurisdictional argument.

### **IV. CONCLUSION**

Contrary to Companioni's contention, there is no conflict between the Second District Court of Appeal's decision below and decisions of this Court or other district courts of appeal. Therefore, there is no jurisdictional basis for this Court's review of the decision below.